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                             O.C.C. PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE  YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022 

1. General information

Registration 
:
The Company was incorporated in Thailand on August 14, 1973 and registered and transformed as a public company limited on May 9, 1994 registration                          



No. 0107537001323
Location at
:
No. 729/4-7 Rachadapisek Road, Kwang Bang Phong Phang, Khet Yannawa district, Bangkok 10120
Type business
:
Distributing cosmetics, clothes, beauty accessories and rendering of beauty services. 

Major shareholder
:
Major shareholder are I.C.C. International Public Company Limited (19.73% shareholding), and Saha Pathana Inter-Holding Public Company Limited  ( 14.36% shareholding) both  were incorporated in Thailand, and Mr. Sumroeng Manoonphol        



( 15.40% shareholding ).
Subsidiaries
:
Production distribution bakery service and beverage.
2. Basis for the preparation of financial statements
2.1
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards enunciated under the Accounting Profession Act B.E. 2547 and their presentation has been made in compliance with the stipulations of the Notification of the Department of Business Development, issued under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in regarding accounting policy. 

The financial statements in Thai language are the official statutory financial statements of the Company. The financial statements in English language have been translated from the Thai language financial statements.
These financial statements are prepared and presented in Baht currency used in operation of the Company.

2.2
New financial reporting standards that became effective in the current year
During the year, the Group has adopted the revised and new financial reporting standards and interpretations which are effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and providing accounting guidance for users of the standards. 

The adoption of these financial reporting standards does not have any significant impact on the company’s financial statements.
2.3
Financial reporting standards that will become effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2023
The Federation of Accounting Professions issued a number of revised financial reporting standards, which are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2023. These financial reporting standards were aimed at alignment with the corresponding International Financial Reporting Standards with most of the changes directed towards clarifying accounting treatment and, for some standards, providing temporary reliefs or temporary exemptions for users.

The management of the company is currently in process of evaluating the plan to be executed and considering the impact of these standards on the financial statements in the year when they are adopted.
3. Consolidated financial statements preparation basis   
3.1
These  financial  statements  have been  consolidated  by    including  the  financial   statements  of  O.C.C Public Company Limited and its subsidiaries of which is controlled by O.C.C Public Company Limited as follows:
	
	
	
	Percentage of shareholding or equity
	Percentage of total assets
	Percentage of total revenues

	Company's name
	Type of Business
	Establishment in
	2022
	2021
	2022
	2021
	2022
	2021

	Direct subsidiaries
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Amatissimo Co., Ltd.
	Production distribution bakery service and beverage.
	Thailand
	76.92
	76.92
	0.02
	0.02
	0.01
	0.02


3.2
The financial statements of subsidiary has been included in the consolidated financial statements since July 30, 2020 as stated in note 11 by starting to have control power in subsidiary until control power is ceased
3.3
The financial statements of subsidiary have been prepared by using same accounting period and policy of the Company
3.4
Significant intra-group balance and transactions have been eliminated. Investment in subsidiary is eliminated from equity of subsidiary
3.5Non controlling interest is the amount of profit or loss and net assets of subsidiary not belonging to the Company and separately presented in consolidated statement of comprehensive income and shareholder‘s equity in consolidated statement of financial position.
4. Summary of significant accounting policies   
4.1 Revenue and expense recognition 
Revenue is recognized in profit or loss when control of goods is already transferred to customer.  No revenue is recognized if there is continuing management involvement with the goods or there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the probable return of goods. In case of sales of goods and services (Multiple element arrangements)  , the component of revenues is allocated in proportion to the delivered products and the obligations to be performed in providing services that are included in the contract using the basis of standalone selling prices of different products or services as obligated in the contract.

Revenue from service is recognized when service is completely rendered.

Revenue excludes value added taxes and is presented net by trade discounts and special discount.
Revenue from investments comprises dividend and interest income from investments and bank deposit.
Dividend income is recognized profit or loss on the date the Company’s right to receive payments is        established.
Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method and recognised on an accrual basis. The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, unless the financial assets subsequently become credit-impaired when it is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (net of the expected credit loss allowance) multiplied by effective interest rate

Lease income is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Other revenues and expenses are recognized on accrual basis.

4.2 Cash and cash equivalents  
Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows comprise cash balances, call deposits period not exceeding three months and highly liquid short-term investments.    
4.3 Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 
Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost principle, and comprises all costs of purchase and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to complete and to make the sale. 

4.4 Invesrment in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries is accounted for in the separate financial statements using the cost method net of allowance for impairment loss (if any).

4.5 Financial instruments
The Group initially measures financial assets at its fair value plus, in the case of financial assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. However, trade receivables, that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction price as disclosed in the accounting policy relating to revenue recognition. 
4.5.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as to be subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), or fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). The classification of financial assets at initial recognition is driven by the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flows characteristics of the financial assets. 

-Financial assets at amortised cost 

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if the financial asset is held in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate (“EIR”) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired. 
- Financial instruments at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group and the Company may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination.

- Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI 
Are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive income and ccumulated in the investments revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is not be classified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained earnings.

4.5.2 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities are recognised at fair value net of transaction costs and classified as liabilities to be subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. In determining amortised cost, the Group takes into account any fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss. 

- Derecognition of financial instruments 
A financial asset is primarily derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or have been transferred and either the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.  The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

4.5.3 Impairment of financial assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. It is based on its historical credit loss experience and adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
4.5.4 Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

4.6 Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held to earn rental income, for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. 
Investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and loss from impairment (If any).

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of self-constructed investment property includes the cost of materials and direct labor, and other costs directly attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for its intended use and capitalized borrowing costs.
Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of  plant and equipment.  The estimated useful lives are as follows:

	Investment property - land
	Not amortized

	Investment property - extensions
	5
	Years


4.7 Plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement
Owned assets

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.(if any). 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalized borrowing costs. Cost also may include transfers from other comprehensive income of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment.
When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment, and are recognized net within other income in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are transferred to retained earnings. 
Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a part of an item of plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of  plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated based on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of plant and equipment.  The estimated useful lives are as follows:  
	Buildings and other constructions  
	20 
	years

	Office equipment
	3 and 5 
	years

	Beautifying accessories
	5
	years

	Vehicles
	5 
	years

	Furnishing of office 
	10 
	years

	Furnishing of selling areas
	5 
	years


No depreciation is provided on assets under construction.
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
4.8 Leases
At inception of contact, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

The Group assesses the lease term for the non-cancellable period as stipulated in lease contract or the remaining period of active leases together with any period covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised or any periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain not to be exercise by considering the effect of changes in technology and/or the other circumstance relating to the extension of the lease term

The Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. At the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use), the Group recognises right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities based on lease liabilities based on lease payments.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation, any accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities initially recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date of the lease less any lease incentives received.

The cost of right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets are calculated by reference to their costs on a     straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease term, as follows:

	Land
	7-27 year

	building
	5-26 year


Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, and amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees. Moreover, the lease payments include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate, which is determined by referring to the government bond yield adjusted with risk premium depending on the lease term, at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
A lease that has a lease term less than or equal to 12 months from commencement date or a lease of low-value assets is recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.9 Intangible assets
Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets acquired have indefinite useful lives as follows. Software licenses are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
Intangible assets that are acquired by the subsidiaries and have infinite useful lives i.e. trademark are measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortization is recognized in profit or loss by straight-line method over estimated useful lives of the component of each item of assets. The estimated useful lives are as follows, 
	    Computer software
	10
	Years

	    Trademark
	No amortization


Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. 

Amortization 
Amortization is based on the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 
Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of Software licenses are 10 years.
Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.
4.10  Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the group Company’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated. 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation credited to equity, in which case it is charged to equity.

4.11 Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date.  
Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss.
4.12 Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 
Defined benefit plans
The group Company’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount.
The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, actuarial gain or loss are recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The Company determines the interest expense on the net defined benefit liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit or loss.

Past service cost is recognized in profit or loss when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the entity recognizes related restructuring costs.
              Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit is immediately recognized as employee benefit in which the employee render the                      related service. Liabilities are recognized at the undiscounted amount of the benefit expected to be paid in exchange for the related service when the entity has a present legal or constructive obligation to make such payment as a result of past events and  a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

4.13 Income tax
Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax  rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.   
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 
The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become available that causes the Company to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.   
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
4.14 Accounting estimates
Preparation of financial statements in conformity with the Financial Reporting Standards required the management to make several estimation and assumption which affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and notes related thereto. Consequent actual results may differ from these estimate and may be adjusted in the next accounting period. Significant accounting estimate are Allowance for expected credit losses and provision for impairment of assets. 

4.15 Provision
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.
4.16 Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests mean the book value of the net assets of the subsidiaries in according to the shareholding ratio of the non-controlling interests or the participating portion which does not belong to the shareholders of the parent. The non-controlling interests are presented in a separate caption under the shareholders’ equity in the consolidated statement of financial position and profit (loss) of the non-controlling interests are presented in a separate caption of the consolidated statement of income.
4.17 Earnings per share
The Company presents basic earnings per share z(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
4.18 Segment reporting
Segment results that are reported to the Company’s CEO (the chief operating decision maker) include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly interest or dividend earning assets and revenue, and corporate assets and expenses.
4.19 Measurement of fair values
The Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

The Company has an established framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This includes a valuation team that has overall responsibility for overseeing all significant fair value measurements, including Level 3 fair values, and reports directly to the CFO.
The valuation team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, such as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation team assesses the evidence obtained from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of TFRS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

· Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can    access at the measurement date.
· Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,    either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
· Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorized in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirely in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.
The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred.

4.20 Significant accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with financial reporting standards at times requires management to make subjective judgments and estimates regarding matters that are inherently uncertain. These judgments and estimates affect reported amounts and disclosures and actual results could differ. Significant judgments and estimates are as follow
Revenue from contracts with customers


Identification of performance obligations 

In identifying performance obligations, the management is required to use judgement regarding whether each promise to deliver goods or services is considered distinct, taking into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. In other words, if a good or service is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract and if the customer can benefit from it, it is accounted for separately.
Determination of timing of revenue recognition

In determining the timing of revenue recognition, the management is required to use judgement regarding whether performance obligations are satisfied over time or at a point in time, taking into consideration terms and conditions of the arrangement. The Company and its subsidiaries recognise revenue over time in the following circumstances:

· the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the company’s performance as the entity performs

· the company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

· the company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date

Where the above criteria are not met, revenue is recognized at a point in time. Where revenue is recognized at a point in time, the management is required to determine when the performance obligation under the contract is satisfied

Allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets 

In determining an allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables and contract assets, the management needs to make judgement and estimates based upon, among other things, past collection history, aging profile of outstanding debts and the forecast economic condition for groupings of various customer segments with similar credit risks. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast economic conditions may also not be representative of whether a customer will actually default in the future.
Fair value of financial instruments

In determining the fair value of financial instruments recognised in the statement of financial position that are not actively traded and for which quoted market prices are not readily available, the management exercise judgement, using a variety of valuation techniques and models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets, and includes consideration of credit risk, liquidity, correlation and longer-term volatility of financial instruments. Change in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value recognised in the statement of financial position and disclosures of fair value hierarchy.

Provision for devaluation of  inventories.
In determining provision for devaluation of inventories, the management is required to make estimates of the expected loss incurred of inventories. The provision for devaluation of inventories is considered by normal expected selling price less selling expenses and provision for devaluation of inventories slow movement or obsolete by the age of  each inventories.

Plant and equipment/Depreciation
In determining depreciation  of  plant  and  equipment, the management is required to make estimates of the useful lives and residual values of the plant and equipment and to review estimate useful lives and residual values when there are any changes. In addition,  the  management  is  required  to  review property, plant and equipment for impairment on a periodical basis and record impairment losses when it is determined that their recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. This  requires  judgements regarding forecast of future revenues and expenses relating to the assets subject to the review.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and losses can be utilized. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred  tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of estimate future taxable profits.
Post-employment benefits under defined benefit plans
The obligation under the defined benefit plans and other long-term employee benefit plans are determined based  on  actuarial  techniques.  Such determination is made based on various assumptions, including discount rate, future salary increase rate, mortality rate and staff turnover rate.
Leases
Determining the lease term with extension and termination options - The Group as a lessee

In determining the lease term, the management is required to exercise judgment in assessing whether the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option to extend or terminate the lease, considering all relevant factors and circumstances that create an economic incentive for the Group to exercise either the extension or termination option. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to extend or to terminate.

5.
 Related Parties Transaction
5.1 Relationship and pricing policy
	Related parties 
	Nature of relationships

	Amatissimo Co., Ltd.
	Subsidiary

	I.C.C. International Plc.
	Major shareholder, 19.73% and some common shareholder/directors

	Saha Pathana Inter-Holding Plc.
	Major shareholder, 14.36% and some common shareholder/directors

	International Laboratories Co., Ltd
	Shareholders, 1.20%, and some common shareholder/directors

	Thanulux Plc.
	Shareholders, 0.13%, and some common shareholders

	Shiseido Professional (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	16% shareholding and some common shareholders /directors
(As at December 31,2022, it is Non-related company)

	International Commercial Coordination

     (Hong Kong) Ltd.
	6.60% shareholding and some common shareholders /directors



	American food Co., Ltd
	Some common shareholders

	Tiger Distribution and Logistics Co., Ltd.
	4.08% shareholding and some common shareholders

	Bangkok Tokyo Socks Co., Ltd.
	5.21% shareholding and some common shareholders /directors

	Thai Bunka Fashion Co., Ltd.
	4% shareholding and some common shareholders / directors

	Boutique New City Plc.
	0.01% shareholding and some common shareholders

	Thai Gunze Co., Ltd.
	Common shareholders/directors

	Pattaya Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
	Common shareholders/directors

	S&J International Enterprises Plc.
	Common shareholders/directors

	M.I.L. (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	Common shareholders

	E.P.F. Co., Ltd.
	Common directors

	Shop Global (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	3.73% shareholding and some common shareholders

	Saha KomeHyo Co., Ltd.
	5% shareholding and some common shareholders

	Saha Capital Tower Co., Ltd.
	1% shareholding and some common shareholders / directors

	Key executive
	Persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company.

	Homchui Company Limited
	Common shareholders/directors of subsidiary


	Pricing with related parties
	Pricing policies

	Sales of goods 
	 Market price/cost plus margin 

	Rendering of services or other income
	 Mutually agreed prices

	Dividend income
	 Right to receive dividends 

	Loan Interest income
	 Interest rate 2.5% and 3.5 % per annum

	Purchase of goods 
	 Market price/Mutually agreed prices 

	Purchase investment 
	 Market price /Mutually agreed prices

	Sales promotion expenses
	 Market price/Mutually agreed prices 

	Consulting fee
	 Mutually agreed prices

	Other expenses
	 Market price/Mutually agreed prices 

	Purchasing assets for business operation      
	 Market price/Mutually agreed prices

	     of subsidiary
	


5.2
The outstanding balance with related parties

The outstanding balance with related persons and parties as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements/ Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Trade receivables
	
	
	
	

	
	I.C.C. International Plc
	
	859
	
	144

	
	E.P.F. Co., Ltd.
	
	1,996
	
	1,614

	
	
	Total
	
	2,855
	
	1,758

	Other current receivables
	
	
	
	

	
	Shiseido Professional (Thailand) Co., Ltd
	
	-
	
	10,534

	
	M.I.L. (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	
	324
	
	213

	
	
	Total
	
	324
	
	10,747

	Deposit
	
	
	
	

	
	Saha Pathana Inter-Holding Plc.
	
	70
	
	49

	
	I.C.C. International Plc.
	
	408
	
	408

	
	
	Total
	
	478
	
	457

	 Other non-current financial assets 
	
	
	
	

	Investment in equity securities of listed company
	
	
	
	

	
	I.C.C. International Plc.
	
	52,523
	
	47,748

	
	Saha Pathana Inter-Holding Plc.
	
	24,585
	
	22,922

	
	Boutique New City Plc.
	
	13
	
	10

	
	
	Total
	
	77,121
	
	70,680

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Investment in equity securities of non-listed company 
	
	
	
	

	
	Shiseido Professional (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	
	-
	
	11,200

	
	Bangkok Tokyo Socks Co., Ltd.
	
	7,806
	
	7,806

	
	Tiger Distribution and Logistics Co., Ltd.
	
	5,070
	
	2,809

	
	International Commercial Coordination 

(Hong Kong) Ltd.
	
	1,406
	
	1,406

	
	Thai Bunka Fashion Co., Ltd
	
	2,000
	
	1,750

	
	American food Co., Ltd
	
	4,200
	
	4,200

	
	Shop Global (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	
	9,000
	
	9,000

	
	Saha KomeHyo Co., Ltd.
	
	8,250
	
	8,250

	
	Saha Capital Tower Co., Ltd.
	
	27,500
	
	27,500

	
	
	Total
	
	65,232
	
	73,921

	
	Add : Gain on remeasuring investments
	
	19,802
	
	21,697

	
	Less : Loss on remeasuring investment
	
	(16,806)
	
	(16,128)

	
	
	Net
	
	68,228
	
	79,490

	 Loans to related company
	
	
	
	

	
	M.I.L. (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	
	-
	
	3,081

	
	Amatissimo Co., Ltd.
	
	9,701
	
	-

	
	
	Total
	
	9,701
	
	3,081

	Trade payables
	
	
	
	

	
	Shiseido Professional (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	
	-
	
	11,360

	
	Pattaya Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
	
	9,779
	
	7,471

	
	International Laboratories Co., Ltd
	
	10,512
	
	7,073

	
	Thai Gunze Co., Ltd.
	
	1,758
	
	845

	
	S&J International Enterprises Plc.
	
	1,133
	
	753

	
	Thanulux Plc.
	
	1,443
	
	371

	
	M.I.L. (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	
	9,551
	
	4,008

	
	Saha Capital Tower Co., Ltd.
	
	8
	
	-

	
	
	Total
	
	34,184
	
	31,881

	Other current payables
	
	
	
	

	
	Tiger Distribution and Logistics Co., Ltd
	
	124
	
	65

	
	International Laboratories Co., Ltd
	
	55
	
	41

	
	I.C.C. International Plc.
	
	752
	
	296

	
	Saha Pathana Inter-Holding Plc
	
	4
	
	15

	
	M.I.L. (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	
	2,969
	
	-

	
	
	Total
	
	3,904
	
	417


	Increase (Decrease) of loan to related company are as follows

	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Loan to related company


	Balance as at                 December                  31, 2021
	Increase

during

the year
	Decrease

during

the year
	Balance as at

December 31, 2022

	M.I.L. (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	3,081
	-
	(3,081)
	-

	
	
	Total
	3,081
	-
	(3,081)
	-


	Increase (Decrease) of loan to related company are as follows

	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Separate financial statements

	Loan to related company


	Balance as at                 December                  31, 2021
	Increase

during

the year
	Decrease

during

the year
	Balance as at

December 31, 2022

	M.I.L. (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	3,081
	-
	(3,081)
	-

	Amatissimo Co., Ltd.
	-
	10,000
	(299)
	9,701

	
	Total
	3,081
	10,000
	(3,380)
	9,701


5.3
Related parties transaction during the year.  
Transactions with related parties for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	For the year ended December 31,

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Business transaction with subsidiary
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Purchase of goods
	-
	
	-
	
	189
	
	46

	Purchase assets
	-
	
	-
	
	280
	
	-

	Related party transactions
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Sales of goods and rendering of service
	23,939
	
	7,004
	
	23,939
	
	7,004

	Dividend income
	3,509
	
	1,739
	
	3,509
	
	1,739

	Other income
	3,932
	
	2,088
	
	3,932
	
	2,088

	Purchase of assets
	499
	
	-
	
	499
	
	-

	Purchase of goods
	233,482
	
	195,401
	
	233,482
	
	195,401

	Sales promotion expenses
	3,531
	
	349
	
	3,531
	
	349

	Consulting fee
	5,690
	
	5,026
	
	5,690
	
	5,026

	Other expenses
	6,443
	
	3,967
	
	6,443
	
	3,967

	Director remuneration
	4,192
	
	4,469
	
	4,192
	
	4,469

	Executive remuneration
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term benefits
	23,590
	
	22,129
	
	21,310
	
	19,849

	Long-term benefits
	1,202
	
	2,372
	
	1,202
	
	2,372

	Total  executive remuneration
	24,792
	
	24,501
	
	22,512
	
	22,221


6.
Additional information of cash flows

Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand and cash at banks. Cash and cash equivalents in statement of cash flows consists of transaction in statement of financial position as follows:
6.1  Cash and cash equivalents as at  December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Cash
	104
	
	84
	
	74
	
	64

	Current accounts
	1,164
	
	747
	
	1,122
	
	718

	Savings accounts
	124,571
	
	149,143
	
	124,264
	
	148,827

	  Total
	125,839
	
	149,974
	
	125,460
	
	149,609


6.2  Non cash transactions
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	For the year ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Payable from purchasing building and equipment
	878
	
	449
	
	878
	
	449

	Payable from purchasing other intangible asset
	156
	
	8
	
	156
	
	8

	Acquire equity instrument of non-listed company
	190
	
	-
	
	190
	
	-

	(Gain) Loss from fair value of other non-current 

     financial assets            
	7,599
	
	2,454
	
	7,599
	
	2,454

	(Gain) Loss from revaluation of employee benefit
	1,029
	
	(827)
	
	1,029
	
	(827)

	  Total
	9,852
	
	2,084
	
	9,852
	
	2,084


Changes in financial liabilities arising from financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follow.

	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Beginning Balance as at January 1, 2022
	Cash flow from 

financing activities
	Non-cash changes

	Ending Balance as at December 31, 2022

	
	
	Cash received
	Cash paid
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	-
	1,000
	-
	-
	1,000

	Trade and other current payables 
	98,610
	-
	-
	22,542
	121,152

	Lease liabilities
	21,932
	-
	(3,562)
	3,116
	21,486

	Total
	120,542
	1,000
	(3,562)
	25,658
	143,638


	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Beginning Balance as at January 1, 2022
	Cash flow from 

financing activities
	Non-cash changes


	Ending Balance as at December 31, 2022

	
	
	Cash received
	Cash paid
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Trade and other current payables 
	97,966
	-
	-
	21,444
	119,410

	Lease liabilities
	17,478
	-
	(2,450)
	657
	15,685

	Total
	115,444
	-
	(2,450)
	22,101
	135,095


	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Beginning Balance as at January 1, 2021
	Cash flow from 

financing activities
	Non-cash changes


	Ending Balance as at December 31, 2021

	
	
	Cash received
	Cash paid
	
	

	Trade and other current payables 
	112,191
	-
	-
	(13,581)
	98,610

	Lease liabilities
	24,867
	-
	(2,935)
	-
	21,932

	Total
	137,058
	-
	(2,935)
	(13,581)
	120,542


	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Beginning Balance as at January 1, 2021
	Cash flow from 

financing activities
	Non-cash changes


	Ending Balance as at December 31, 2021

	
	
	Cash received
	Cash paid
	
	

	Trade and other current payables 
	110,834
	-
	-
	(12,868)
	97,966

	Lease liabilities
	19,626
	-
	(2,148)
	-
	17,478

	Total
	130,460
	-
	(2,148)
	(12,868)
	115,444


7. 
Trade and other current receivables

Trade and other current receivables as at December 31, 2022 and  2021 are as follows :

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	 2021
	
	 2022
	
	 2021

	Trade receivables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Related company
	2,855
	
	1,758
	
	2,855
	
	1,758

	
	Other company
	117,905
	
	116,887
	
	117,102
	
	116,443

	
	
	Total
	120,760
	
	118,645
	
	119,957
	
	118,201

	
	Less
	Allowance for expected credit losses
	(3,612)
	
	(4,402)
	
	(3,612)
	
	(4,402)

	
	Net
	117,148
	
	114,243
	
	116,345
	
	113,799

	Other current receivables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Related company
	324
	
	10,747
	
	324
	
	10,747

	
	Others
	3,876
	
	554
	
	3,639
	
	248

	
	
	Total
	4,200
	
	11,301
	
	3,963
	
	10,995

	Total trade and other current receivables
	121,348
	
	125,544
	
	120,308
	
	124,794


	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements/ Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Allowance for expected credit losses
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Beginning of the year
	
	
	
	
	4,402
	
	6,370

	
	decrease during the year
	
	
	
	
	(8)
	
	(1,968)

	
	Written off bad debt during the year
	
	
	
	
	(782)
	
	-

	
	End of the year
	
	
	
	
	3,612
	
	4,402


	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements/ Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	 2022
	
	 2021

	Aging of trade receivable
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Trade receivable-Related company
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Within credit terms
	
	
	136
	
	628

	
	
	Overdue:
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	       Less than 3 months
	
	
	2,183
	
	1,130

	
	
	       3 - 6 months
	
	
	536
	
	-

	
	
	       6 - 12 months
	
	
	-
	
	-

	
	
	       Over 12  months
	
	
	-
	
	-

	
	Total trade receivable-Related company
	
	2,855
	
	1,758


	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	 2021
	
	 2022
	
	 2021

	
	Trade receivable-Other company
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	Within credit terms
	76,954
	
	70,774
	
	76,505
	
	70,497

	
	
	Overdue:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	       Less than 3 months
	39,155
	
	43,976
	
	38,869
	
	43,821

	
	
	       3 - 6 months
	734
	
	62
	
	729
	
	50

	
	
	       6 - 12 months
	87
	
	111
	
	24
	
	111

	
	
	       Over 12  months
	975
	
	1,964
	
	975
	
	1,964

	  Total trade receivable-other company
	117,905
	
	116,887
	
	117,102
	
	116,443


8.
Inventories
Inventories as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	 2021
	
	 2022
	
	 2021

	Raw materials
	540
	
	426
	
	-
	
	-

	Finished goods
	81,082
	
	134,246
	
	80,798
	
	134,197

	Consignment goods
	62,215
	
	67,776
	
	62,215
	
	67,776

	
	Total
	143,837
	
	202,448
	
	143,013
	
	201,973

	Less  Provision for devaluation of 
     inventories
	(2,794)
	
	(3,995)
	
	(2,794)
	
	(3,995)

	
	Total inventories
	141,043
	
	198,453
	
	140,219
	
	197,978


	Inventories recognized as expense in cost of sales;

	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	 2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	         Cost
	495,643
	
	409,328
	
	488,605
	
	401,214

	         Write-off to net realizable value 
	(1,200)
	
	332
	
	(1,200)
	
	332

	
	Total
	494,443
	
	409,660
	
	487,405
	
	401,546


9.
Other current financial assets

Other current financial assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements /Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Investments in unit trust at fair value through         
	
	
	
	
	

	      income statement
	
	
	
	
	

	Investments in short-term unit trust
	
	
	190,669
	
	80,002

	
	Total other current financial assets
	
	
	190,669
	
	80,002


Movements during the year ended December 31 of other current financial assets were as follows:
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements /Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	 2022
	
	 2021

	At January 1
	
	
	80,002
	
	39,907

	Purchases during the year
	
	
	110,000
	
	80,000

	Disposal during the year
	
	
	-
	
	(40,000)

	Allowance for expected credit loss 
	
	
	-
	
	93

	Changes in fair value
	
	
	667
	
	2

	At December 31
	
	
	190,669
	
	80,002

	
	
	
	
	
	
	


10.
Other non-current financial assets 
Other non-current financial assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows :
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements /Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Investment in equity securities at fair value through
	
	
	
	

	      comprehensive income
	
	
	
	

	 Investment in equity securities of listed company 
	
	
	
	

	
	Related company 
	
	77,121
	
	70,680

	
	Other company
	
	3,760
	
	2,602

	
	
	Total
	
	80,881
	
	73,282

	 Investment in equity securities of non-listed company 
	
	
	
	

	
	Related company
	
	65,232
	
	73,921

	
	Add : Gain on remeasuring investments
	
	19,802
	
	21,697

	
	Less : Loss on remeasuring investments       
	
	(16,806)
	
	(16,128)

	
	
	Net
	
	68,228
	
	79,490

	
	Other company
	
	7,125
	
	7,125

	
	Add : Gain on remeasuring investments
	
	60,693
	
	57,430

	
	Less : Loss on remeasuring investments      
	
	(4,377)
	
	(4,358)

	
	
	Net
	
	63,441
	
	60,197

	
	
	Total
	
	131,669
	
	139,687

	 Total other non-current financial assets
	
	212,550
	
	212,969


Investment in equity securities at fair value through comprehensive income movement during the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 as follows
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements /Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	 2022
	
	 2021

	At January 1
	
	
	212,969
	
	197,341

	Purchases during the year
	
	
	2,511
	
	18,000

	Disposal during the year
	
	
	(11,200)
	
	(3,200)

	Changes in fair value
	
	
	8,270
	
	828

	At December 31
	
	
	212,550
	
	212,969


The fair values of financial assets and the carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position as at December  31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements /Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	Carrying amount
	
	Fair Value
	
	Fair Value

	
	
	
	
	
	Level 1
	
	Level 3

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Investment in equity securities at 
     fair value  through 
     comprehensive income
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	     -Investment in equity securities
       of listed company
	80,881
	
	73,282
	
	80,881
	
	73,282
	
	-
	
	-

	     -Investment in equity securities 
      of non-listed company 
	131,669
	
	139,687
	
	-
	
	-
	
	131,669
	
	139,687

	
	    212,550
	
	212,969
	
	80,881
	
	73,282
	
	131,669
	
	139,686


The table above analyses recurring fair value measurements for financial assets. These fair value measurements are categorized  into  different  levels  in  the fair value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation techniques used. The level applicable to the Company’s equity securities available-for-sale is defined as follows.
•  Level 1:quoted prices (unadjusted) in  active  markets (Stock Exchange) for  identical  assets  that  the  Company can access at the measurement date.
•   Level 3 : unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
11.    Investment in subsidiary
11.1 Investment in subsidiary presented in separate financial statements has detail as follows.
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Paid-up capital
	Investment proportion
	Cost
	Dividend received for

year

	
	2022
	2021
	2022
	2021
	2022
	2021
	2022
	2021

	
	
	
	(%)
	
	
	
	

	Amatissimo Co., Ltd.
	19,500
	19,500
	76.92
	76.92
	15,000
	15,000
	-
	-

	Less Provision for impairment
	
	
	
	
	3,490
	(519)
	
	

	Investment in subsidiary-Net
	
	
	
	
	11,510
	14,481
	
	


12.    Loans to related company  
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	December 31, 2022
	
	December 31, 2021
	
	December 31, 2022
	
	December 31, 2021

	Subsidiary
	-
	
	-
	
	9,701
	
	-

	Related company
	-
	
	3,081
	
	-
	
	3,081

	
	Total
	-
	
	3,081
	
	9,701
	
	3,081


Loan to related company 
The Company entered into loan to a related company bearing interest rate 3.5% per annum, respectively. The term of principal and interest repayment is Baht 300,000 per month. The first repayment commenced on May 31, 2019 and will be ended on December 31, 2021. Later, according to the resolution of the Board of Director meeting no.4/2021 dated on August 11, 2021, the Company requested to temporarily stop making principal repayment from August 2021 until January 2022 but still making interest payment in normal and extend debt repayment to be completely paid within January 31,2023. (Making debt repayment in full amount before maturity)
Loan to subsidiary

During 2022, the Company entered into 2 loan agreements to subsidiary bearing interest rate 2.50% per annum. The term of  monthly principal repayment is commenced in December  2022  Baht 166,667  and interest and the last installment  in May 2025 Baht 166,657 and interest.
13.
Investment property 

	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Consolidated financial statements/ Separate financial statements

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	
	
	
	
	538,054

	Additions
	
	
	
	
	457

	Disposal
	
	
	
	
	(221,104)

	At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022
	
	
	
	
	317,407

	At December 31, 2022
	
	
	
	
	317,407

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	
	
	
	
	2,209

	Depreciation charge for the year
	
	
	
	
	1,697

	At December 31, 2021 and January 1, 2022
	
	
	
	
	3,906

	Depreciation charge for the year
	
	
	
	
	1,697

	At December 31, 2022
	
	
	
	
	5,603

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	

	At December 31, 2021           
	
	
	
	
	313,501

	At December 31, 2022
	
	
	
	
	311,804


As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, investment property cost Baht 308.92 Million (net book value Baht 308.92 million) was appraised by an independent appraiser approved by SEC, by considering comparative market price approach having appraisal value Baht 387.61 million. 
On December 21, 2021, the Company transferred ownership of land at Land Department and had gain from disposal of land Baht 35.40 million net by selling expenses.
14.
Building and equipment
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Building and other construction
	
	Office equipment
	
	Beautifying accessories
	
	Vehicles
	
	Furnishing of office and selling areas
	
	Assets under construction
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	51,068
	
	31,923
	
	5,902
	
	21,487
	
	57,058
	
	-
	
	167,438

	Additions
	-
	
	998
	
	670
	
	-
	
	742
	
	-
	
	2,410

	Disposals
	-
	
	(149)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(149)

	At December 31, 2021
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	and  At January 1, 2022
	51,068
	
	32,772
	
	6,572
	
	21,487
	
	57,800
	
	-
	
	169,699

	Additions
	-
	
	2,966
	
	2,658
	
	-
	
	3,968
	
	1,012
	
	10,604

	Disposals
	-
	
	(537)
	
	(19)
	
	(2,489)
	
	(1,185)
	
	-
	
	(4,230)

	At December 31, 2022
	51,068
	
	35,201
	
	9,211
	
	18,998
	
	60,583
	
	1,012
	
	176,073

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	51,068
	
	28,052
	
	3,680
	
	15,510
	
	50,854
	
	-
	
	149,164

	Depreciation charge for
   the year
	-
	
	1,889
	
	630
	
	2,301
	
	2,625
	
	-
	
	7,445

	Disposals
	-
	
	(149)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(149)

	At December 31, 2021
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	and  At January 1, 2022
	51,068
	
	29,792
	
	4,310
	
	17,811
	
	53,479
	
	-
	
	156,460

	Depreciation charge for
   the year
	-
	
	1,783
	
	815
	
	1,596
	
	1,962
	
	-
	
	6,156

	Disposals
	-
	
	(474)
	
	(11)
	
	(1,501)
	
	(976)
	
	-
	
	(2,962)

	At December 31, 2022
	51,068
	
	31,101
	
	5,114
	
	17,906
	
	54,465
	
	-
	
	159,654

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At December 31, 2021
	-
	
	2,980
	
	2,262
	
	3,676
	
	4,321
	
	-
	
	13,239

	At December 31, 2022
	-
	
	4,100
	
	4,097
	
	1,092
	
	6,118
	
	1,012
	
	16,419

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, building and equipment that fully depreciated but still in use has gross carrying amount Baht 142.13 million and baht 136.58 million, respectively.

	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Building and other construction
	
	Office equipment
	
	Beautifying accessories
	
	Vehicles
	
	Furnishing of office and selling areas
	
	Assets under construction
	
	Total

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	51,068
	
	31,525
	
	3,882
	
	21,242
	
	56,778
	
	-
	
	164,495

	Additions
	-
	
	880
	
	8
	
	-
	
	677
	
	-
	
	1,565

	Disposals
	-
	
	(149)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(149)

	At December 31, 2021
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   and  At January 1, 2022
	51,068
	
	32,256
	
	3,890
	
	21,242
	
	57,455
	
	-
	
	165,911

	Additions
	-
	
	2,796
	
	171
	
	-
	
	1,165
	
	1,012
	
	5,144

	Disposals
	-
	
	(411)
	
	(7)
	
	(2,489)
	
	(840)
	
	-
	
	(3,747)

	At December 31, 2022
	51,068
	
	34,641
	
	4,054
	
	18,753
	
	57,780
	
	1,012
	
	167,308

	Accumulated depreciation
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	51,068
	
	28,018
	
	3,569
	
	15,490
	
	50,850
	
	-
	
	148,995

	Depreciation charge for
   the year
	-
	
	1,772
	
	141
	
	2,252
	
	2,561
	
	-
	
	6,726

	Disposals
	-
	
	(149)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(149)

	At December 31, 2021
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	   and January 1, 2022
	51,068
	
	29,641
	
	3,710
	
	17,742
	
	53,411
	
	-
	
	155,572

	Depreciation charge for
   the year
	-
	
	1,636
	
	97
	
	1,547
	
	1,696
	
	-
	
	4,976

	Disposals
	-
	
	(410)
	
	(7)
	
	(1,501)
	
	(840)
	
	-
	
	(2,758)

	At December 31, 2022
	51,068
	
	30,867
	
	3,800
	
	17,788
	
	54,267
	
	-
	
	157,790

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At December 31, 2021
	-
	
	2,615
	
	180
	
	3,500
	
	4,044
	
	
	
	10,339

	At December 31, 2022
	-
	
	3,774
	
	254
	
	965
	
	3,513
	
	1,012
	
	9,518

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	


As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, building and equipment that fully depreciated but still in use has gross carrying amount Baht 142.13 million and baht 136.58 million, respectively.

15.
Right-of- use assets
(Unit : Thousand Baht)
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	Leasehold
	
	

	
	Leasehold
Rights- Building and area
	
	Leasehold rights-
Land
	
	Rights-Building and premises
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021 
	26,365
	
	34,200
	
	19,991
	
	80,556

	At December 31, 2021
	26,365
	
	34,200
	
	19,991
	
	80,556

	Increase during the year
	3,116
	
	-
	
	-
	
	3,116

	At December 31, 2022
	29,481
	
	34,200
	
	19,991
	
	83,672

	Accumulated amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021 
	2,045
	
	12,203
	
	19,991
	
	34,239

	Amortization for the year
	3,606
	
	3,300
	
	-
	
	6,906

	At December 31, 2021
	5,651
	
	15,503
	
	19,991
	
	41,145

	Amortization for the year
	4,031
	
	3,300
	
	-
	
	7,331

	At December 31, 2022
	9,682
	
	18,803
	
	19,991
	
	48,476

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At December 31, 2021
	20,714
	
	18,697
	
	-
	
	39,411

	At December 31, 2022
	19,799
	
	15,397
	
	-
	
	35,196


The Company has leasehold rights agreements on land and buildings and premises. In this regards, the Company still pays monthly rental fee according to rates as stipulated in agreements for period of  10 - 27 years, expiring in 2021 - 2030.

(Unit : Thousand Baht)
	
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	Leasehold
	
	

	
	Leasehold

Rights- Building and area
	
	Leasehold rights-Land
	
	Rights-Building and premises
	
	Total

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021 
	21,061
	
	34,200
	
	19,991
	
	75,252

	At December 31, 2021
	21,061
	
	34,200
	
	19,991
	
	75,252

	Increase during the year
	657
	
	-
	
	-
	
	657

	At December 31, 2022
	21,718
	
	34,200
	
	19,991
	
	75,909

	Accumulated amortization
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021 
	1,969
	
	12,203
	
	19,991
	
	34,163

	Amortization for the year
	2,697
	
	3,300
	
	-
	
	5,997

	At December 31, 2021
	4,666
	
	15,503
	
	19,991
	
	40,160

	Amortization for the year
	2,824
	
	3,300
	
	-
	
	6,124

	At December 31, 2022
	7,490
	
	18,803
	
	19,991
	
	46,284

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	At December 31, 2021
	16,395
	
	18,697
	
	-
	
	35,092

	At December 31, 2022
	14,228
	
	15,397
	
	-
	
	29,625


The Company has leasehold rights agreements on land and buildings and premises. In this regards, the Company still pays monthly rental fee according to rates as stipulated in agreements for period of  10 - 27 years, expiring in 2021 - 2030.

Expenses related to rental contract recognised  in profit and loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	For the year ended December 31,
	
	For the year ended December 31,

	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Depreciation of right-of-use assets
	7,331
	
	6,906
	
	6,124
	
	5,997

	Interest expense of lease liabilities
	1,263
	
	1,412
	
	1,008
	
	1,119

	Variable rental-related expenses 
not included in financial liabilities measurement.
	15,139
	
	11,874
	
	15,139
	
	11,874

	
	Total
	23,733
	
	20,192
	
	22,271
	
	18,990


16.
Other intangible assets 
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Trade mark
	
	Computer software
	
	Total

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	13,037
	
	49,389
	
	62,426

	Increase during the year
	-
	
	129
	
	129

	At December 31, 2021 
	13,037
	
	49,518
	
	62,555

	Increase during the year
	-
	
	445
	
	445

	At December 31, 2022
	13,037
	
	49,963
	
	63,000

	Accumulated  amortization
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	515
	
	31,276
	
	31,791

	Amortization for the year
	1,229
	
	2,486
	
	3,715

	At December 31, 2021 
	1,744
	
	33,762
	
	35,506

	Amortization for the year
	1,229
	
	2,444
	
	3,673

	At December 31, 2022
	2,973
	
	36,206
	
	39,179

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	

	At December 31, 2021
	11,293
	
	15,756
	
	27,049

	At December 31, 2022
	10,064
	
	13,757
	
	23,821


Remaining amortization period






       Year

2021








         
         1-9

2022









         1-9

	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Trade mark
	
	Computer software
	
	Total

	Cost
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	747
	
	49,142
	
	49,889

	Increase during the year
	-
	
	115
	
	115

	At December 31, 2021 
	747
	
	49,257
	
	50,004

	Increase during the year
	-
	
	445
	
	445

	At December 31, 2022
	747
	
	49,702
	
	50,449

	Accumulated  amortization
	
	
	
	
	

	At January 1, 2021
	-
	
	31,267
	
	31,267

	Amortization for the year
	-
	
	2,460
	
	2,460

	At December 31, 2021 
	-
	
	33,727
	
	33,727

	Amortization for the year
	-
	
	2,418
	
	2,418

	At December 31, 2022
	-
	
	36,145
	
	36,145

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Net book value
	
	
	
	
	

	At December 31, 2021
	747
	
	15,530
	
	16,277

	At December 31, 2022
	747
	
	13,557
	
	14,304


Remaining amortization period






       Year

2021








         
         1-9

2022









         1-9

17.
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows :

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Deferred tax assets
	45,728
	
	45,167
	
	45,661
	
	45,128

	Deferred tax liabilities
	(25,544)
	
	(23,890)
	
	(25,440)
	
	(23,786)

	
	Net
	20,184
	
	21,277
	
	20,221
	
	21,342


Movements in total deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year were as follows:

	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	

	(Expenses) Revenue recorded in

	
	At
	
	Profit or
	
	Other
	
	Direct 
	
	At

	
	January

1, 2022
	
	loss
	
	Comprehensive income
	
	shareholder's equity
	
	December

31, 2022

	
	
	
	(Note 24)
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade receivable
	880
	
	(158)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	722

	Inventories
	799
	
	(240)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	559

	Gross profit consignment goods
	15,819
	
	(1,166)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	14,653

	Non-current financial assets
	2,315
	
	594
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,909

	Right-of-use assets
	243
	
	94
	
	-
	
	-
	
	337

	Non-Current provisions for employee

     benefit
	13,813
	
	(956)
	
	206
	
	-
	
	13,063

	Tax loss carried forward
	10,892
	
	2,009
	
	-
	
	-
	
	12,901

	Others
	406
	
	178
	
	-
	
	-
	
	584

	Total
	45,167
	
	355
	
	206
	
	-
	
	45,728

	Deferred tax liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-current financial assets
	23,890
	
	-
	
	(5,725)
	
	7,379
	
	25,544

	Total
	23,890
	
	-
	
	(5,725)
	
	7,379
	
	25,544


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	

	(Expenses) Revenue recorded in

	
	At
	
	Profit or
	
	Other
	
	Direct 
	
	At

	
	January

1, 2022
	
	loss
	
	Comprehensive income
	
	shareholder's equity
	
	December

31, 2022

	
	
	
	(Note 24)
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade receivable
	880
	
	(158)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	722

	Inventories
	799
	
	(240)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	559

	Gross profit consignment goods
	15,819
	
	(1,166)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	14,653

	Non-current financial assets
	2,315
	
	594
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,909

	Right-of-use assets
	216
	
	75
	
	-
	
	-
	
	291

	Non-Current provisions for employee benefit
	13,801
	
	(965)
	
	206
	
	-
	
	13,042

	Tax loss carried forward
	10,892
	
	2,009
	
	-
	
	-
	
	12,901

	Others
	406
	
	178
	
	-
	
	-
	
	584

	Total
	45,128
	
	327
	
	206
	
	-
	
	45,661

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-current financial assets
	23,786
	
	-
	
	(5,725)
	
	7,379
	
	25,440

	Total
	23,786
	
	-
	
	(5,725)
	
	7,379
	
	25,440


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	

	(Expenses) Revenue recorded in

	
	At
	
	Profit or
	
	Other
	
	Direct 
	
	At

	
	January

1, 2021
	
	loss
	
	Comprehensive income
	
	shareholder's equity
	
	December

31, 2021

	
	
	
	(Note 24)
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade receivable
	1,274
	
	(394)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	880

	Inventories
	732
	
	67
	
	-
	
	-
	
	799

	Gross profit consignment goods
	18,739
	
	(2,920)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	15,819

	Other current financial assets
	19
	
	(19)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Non-current financial assets
	2,791
	
	(476)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,315

	Right-of-use assets
	119
	
	124
	
	-
	
	-
	
	243

	Non-Current provisions for employee

     benefit
	15,426
	
	(1,448)
	
	(165)
	
	-
	
	13,813

	Tax loss carried forward
	5,706
	
	5,186
	
	-
	
	-
	
	10,892

	Others
	493
	
	(87)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	406

	Total
	45,299
	
	33
	
	(165)
	
	-
	
	45,167

	Deferred tax liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-current financial assets
	24,201
	
	-
	
	828
	
	(1,139)
	
	23,890

	Total
	24,201
	
	-
	
	828
	
	(1,139)
	
	23,890


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	

	(Expenses) Revenue recorded in

	
	At
	
	Profit or
	
	Other
	
	Direct 
	
	At

	
	January

1, 2021
	
	loss
	
	Comprehensive income
	
	shareholder's equity
	
	December

31, 2021

	
	
	
	(Note 24)
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade receivable
	1,274
	
	(394)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	880

	Inventories
	732
	
	67
	
	-
	
	-
	
	799

	Gross profit consignment goods
	18,739
	
	(2,920)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	15,819

	Current financial assets
	19
	
	(19)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	-

	Non-current financial assets
	2,791
	
	(476)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	2,315

	Right-of-use assets
	107
	
	109
	
	-
	
	-
	
	216

	Non-Current provisions for employee benefit
	15,423
	
	(1,457)
	
	(165)
	
	-
	
	13,801

	Tax loss carried forward
	5,706
	
	5,186
	
	-
	
	-
	
	10,892

	Others
	493
	
	(87)
	
	-
	
	-
	
	406

	Total
	45,284
	
	9
	
	(165)
	
	-
	
	45,128

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Deferred tax liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Non-current financial assets
	24,201
	
	-
	
	932
	
	(1,347)
	
	23,786

	Total
	24,201
	
	-
	
	932
	
	(1,347)
	
	23,786


18.
Other non-current assets 
Other non-current assets as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows :
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Deposit - Related company
	478
	
	457
	
	478
	
	457

	Deposit - Other company
	3,560
	
	6,174
	
	3,264
	
	5,824

	
	Total
	4,038
	
	6,631
	
	3,742
	
	6,281


19.  Short-term loans from related persons

As at December 31, 2022, the Company had short-term loan from a Director bearing no interest using 2 promissory notes as evidence maturity on April 26, 2023 and May 9, 2023.
20.   Trade and other current payables
Trade and other current payables as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows :
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Trade payables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Related companies
	34,184
	
	31,881
	
	34,184
	
	31,881

	
	Other companies
	47,748
	
	27,325
	
	47,161
	
	27,026

	
	
	Total
	81,932
	
	59,206
	
	81,345
	
	58,907

	Other current payables
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Related companies
	3,904
	
	417
	
	3,904
	
	417

	
	Accrued expenses
	12,595
	
	14,479
	
	12,285
	
	14,381

	
	Other
	22,721
	
	24,508
	
	21,876
	
	24,261

	
	
	Total
	39,220
	
	39,404
	
	38,065
	
	39,059

	Total trade and other current payables     
	121,152
	
	98,610
	
	119,410
	
	97,966


21.   Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows :
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Lease liabilities
	21,486
	
	21,932
	
	15,685
	
	17,478

	Less Current portion of lease liabilities
	(4,595)
	
	(3,166)
	
	(2,843)
	
	(2,331)

	Lease liabilities due over 1 year
	16,891
	
	18,766
	
	12,842
	
	15,147


Movements of lease liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows :
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements 

	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Net book value as at December 31, 
	21,932
	
	24,867
	
	17,478
	
	19,626

	Increase during the year
	3,116
	
	-
	
	657
	
	-

	Decrease during the year
	(3,562)
	
	(2,935)
	
	(2,450)
	
	(2,148)

	Net book value as at December 31, 
	21,486
	
	21,932
	
	15,685
	
	17,478


Minimum amount to be paid for lease liabilities

	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	
	Minimum amount to be paid
	
	Present value of the minimum

	
	
	
	
	amount to be paid

	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Within 1 year
	5,759
	
	4,397
	
	4,595
	
	3,166

	Over 1 year but less than 5 years
	17,330
	
	17,840
	
	15,361
	
	15,074

	Over 5 years
	1,577
	
	3,897
	
	1,530
	
	3,692

	
	Total
	24,666
	
	26,134
	
	21,486
	
	21,932

	Less  Future interest 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	of  leases
	(3,180)
	
	(4,202)
	
	-
	
	-

	Present value of leases 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	liabilities
	21,486
	
	21,932
	
	21,486
	
	21,932


Minimum amount to be paid for lease liabilities

	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	Minimum amount to be paid
	
	Present value of the minimum

	
	
	
	
	amount to be paid

	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Within 1 year
	3,707
	
	3,317
	
	2,843
	
	2,331

	Over 1 year but less than 5 years
	12,983
	
	13,790
	
	11,312
	
	11,455

	Over 5 years
	1,576
	
	3,897
	
	1,530
	
	3,692

	
	Total
	18,266
	
	21,004
	
	15,685
	
	17,478

	Less  Future interest 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	of  leases
	(2,581)
	
	(3,526)
	
	-
	
	-

	Present value of leases 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	liabilities
	15,685
	
	17,478
	
	15,685
	
	17,478


22.
Non-Current provisions for employee benefits

The Company operate a defined benefit pension plan based on the requirement of Thai Labour Protection Act B.E 2541 (1998) to provide retirement benefits to employees based on pensionable remuneration and length of service.

The defined benefit plans expose the Company to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and market (investment) risk.

	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)



	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Statement of financial position
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Non-current provisions in statement of
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	     financial position
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Post-employment benefits
	55,517
	
	58,713
	
	55,412
	
	58,653

	
	Other long-term employee benefits
	9,799
	
	10,350
	
	9,799
	
	10,350

	
	            Total
	65,316
	
	69,063
	
	65,211
	
	69,003


Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations.

	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)



	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	
	Defined benefit obligations 

     at January 1, 


	69,063
	
	77,131
	
	69,003
	
	77,116

	
	Include in profit:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Current service cost
	3,493
	
	5,994
	
	3,448
	
	5,949

	
	Interest on obligation
	805
	
	565
	
	805
	
	565

	
	
	4,298
	
	6,559
	
	4,253
	
	6,514

	
	Included in other comprehensive income:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Actuarial (gain) loss
	1,029
1,029
	
	(827)
	
	1,029
	
	(827)

	
	
	1,029
	
	(827)
	
	1,029
	
	(827)

	
	Other:
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Benefit paid
	(9,074)
	
	(13,800)
	
	(9,074)
	
	(13,800)

	
	
	(9,074)
	
	(13,800)
	
	(9,074)
	
	(13,800)

	
	Defined benefit obligations at December 31,
	65,316
	
	69,063
	
	65,211
	
	69,003


Actuarial loss recognized in other comprehensive income as of the end of the reporting period arising from:
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)


	
	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements /Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021

	
	Year ended December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Demographic assumptions
	
	
	
	(4,134)
	
	(1,409)

	
	Financial assumptions
	
	
	
	1,067
	
	2,226

	
	Experience adjustment
	
	
	
	2,038
	
	10

	
	Total
	
	
	
	(1,029)
	
	827


Actuarial assumptions

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (presented by weighted average method).

	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)


	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	
	Discount rate
	1.86 – 3.15
	
	1.17 – 1.60
	
	1.86
	
	1.17

	
	Future salary growth
	2.55 – 3.74
	
	2.40 – 3.70
	
	2.55 – 3.74
	
	2.40 – 3.70

	
	Turnover rate
	2.7 – 35
	
	2 - 28
	
	3 - 25
	
	2 - 28


Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality tables.
Sensitivity analysis  
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below.

	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)


	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	
	2022
	
	2021

	
	
	Increase
	
	Decrease
	
	Increase
	
	Decrease

	
	Defined benefit obligation 
    at  December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Discount rate (0.5% movement)
	(1,460)
	
	1,520
	
	(1,703)
	
	1,777

	
	Future salary growth (0.5% movement)
	1,638
	
	(1,588)
(1,588)


	
	1,885
	
	(1,823)

	
	Turnover rate (10% movement)
	(1,857)
	
	1,914
	
	(2,145)
	
	2,323

	
	Future mortality (0.5% movement)
	(4)
	
	4
	
	(5)
	
	5

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)


	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	2022
	
	2021

	
	
	Increase
	
	Decrease
	
	Increase
	
	Decrease

	
	Defined benefit obligation 
     At December 31,
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Discount rate (0.5% movement)
	(1,460)
	
	1,520
	
	(1,703)
	
	1,777

	
	Future salary growth (0.5% movement)
	1,638
	
	(1,588)

	
	1,885
	
	(1,823)

	
	Turnover rate (10% movement)
	(1,848)
	
	1,903
	
	(2,138)
	
	2,315

	
	Future mortality (0.5% movement)
	(4)
	
	4
	
	(5)
	
	5


Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.
23.
Provident Fund

The defined contribution plans comprise provident funds established by the Company for its employees. Membership to the funds is on a voluntary basis. Contributions are made monthly by the employees at the rate of 3% - 15% of their basic salaries and by the company at rates ranging from 3% - 4% of the employees’ basic salaries. The provident funds are registered with the Ministry of Finance as juristic entities and are managed by a licensed Fund Manager, During 2022, the Company recognized such contribution as expenses Baht 4.45      million ( 2021: 4.88 million)
24.
Income tax

24.1  
Calculation of income tax for the current period 

In 2022, the Company calculated income tax by using tax rate at 20% from profit before income tax after adjusted by allowance and any expenses which shall not be allowed as expenses in tax calculation (if any).
24.2  
Expense of the income tax recognized in profit or loss
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Current income tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    For the current period
	(4,781)
	
	517
	
	(4,725)
	
	516

	Deferred tax
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	    Changing in temporary difference
	355
	
	(33)
	
	327
	
	(9)

	Total
	(4,426)
	
	484
	
	(4,398)
	
	507


Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income  

	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Non-current financial assets
	(5,725)
	
	828
	
	(5,725)
	
	932

	Actuarial loss from defined benefit plan
	206
	
	(165)
	
	206
	
	(165)

	Total
	(5,519)
	
	663
	
	(5,519)
	
	767


As at December 31, 2022, subsidiary has unused tax loss Baht 8.37  million (2021: Baht  3.87  million), Deferred tax assets is not recognized since subsidiary has considered that there will no adequate future taxable profit for taking benefit from the above unused tax loss.

The reconciliation between accounting profit and income tax expense is shown below
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Profit (loss) before income tax expense
	(29,191)
	
	(2,404)
	
	(23,694)
	
	1,588

	Income tax rate
	20%
	
	20%
	
	20%
	
	20%

	Income tax using the corporate income tax rate
	(5,838)
	
	(481)
	
	(4,739)
	
	317

	Income not subject to tax
	(1,547)
	
	(460)
	
	(952)
	
	(470)

	Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
	1,325
	
	670
	
	1,293
	
	660

	Tax loss carried forward
	1,634
	
	755
	
	-
	
	-

	Total
	(4,426)
	
	484
	
	(4,398)
	
	507


25.
Reserves
Reserves comprise:

Legal reserve   
Section 116 of the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535 Section 116 requires that a public company shall allocate not less than 5% of its annual net profit, less any accumulated losses brought forward, to a reserve account (“legal reserve”), until this account reaches an amount not less than 10% of the registered authorized capital. The legal reserve is not available for dividend distribution
Other reserves
The Company had appropriated some of net profit for reserve a general investment reserve which is not mentioned for any specific purpose.

26.
Dividend

According to the ordinary shareholder meeting No.28 held on April 25, 2022, The company approved to pay dividend Baht 0.05 per share amount of 60 million share from retained earnings total amount of dividend Baht 3 million. Such dividend was paid to shareholders on May 25, 2022.
According to the ordinary shareholder meeting No.27 held on April 26, 2021, The company approved to pay dividend Baht 0.15 per share amount of 60 million share from net profit of the year 2020 total amount of dividend Baht 9 million. Such dividend was paid to shareholders on May 25, 2021.
27.
Expenses by nature
The statements of income include an analysis of expenses by function. Expenses by nature disclosed in accordance with the requirements of various TFRS were as follows:

	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated 

financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Changes in inventories 
	59,310
	
	(3,132)
	
	58,960
	
	(3,113)

	Purchase of finished goods
	431,055
	
	408,062
	
	428,161
	
	404,413

	Personnel expenses
	249,476
	
	226,522
	
	244,011
	
	221,533

	Sale promotion expenses
	7,534
	
	6,221
	
	7,495
	
	6,202

	Sample products expenses
	16,343
	
	14,617
	
	16,230
	
	14,584

	Advertisement expenses
	11,800
	
	5,859
	
	11,556
	
	5,760

	Depreciation and amortization expenses จำหน่าย
	18,857
	
	19,763
	
	15,215
	
	16,879

	Consulting fee
	5,690
	
	5,026
	
	5,690
	
	5,026

	Director remuneration
	4,192
	
	4,469
	
	4,192
	
	4,469

	Executive remuneration
	24,792
	
	22,221
	
	22,512
	
	22,221


28.
Segment Information

The Company has three reportable segments, as described below, which are the Company’s strategic divisions. The primary format, business segments, is based on the Company’s management and internal reporting structure.

Inter-segment pricing is determined on mutually agreed terms.

Segment results, assets and liabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise interest or dividend-earning assets and revenue, and corporate assets and expenses.  
Business segments

   The Company comprises the following main business segments:

Segment  1
Cosmetics distributing and beauty services 

Segment  2     Clothes
Segment  3    
Others: Revenue from sales  bakery and beverage of subsidiary does not reach to
                       10% , it is, therefore, included in segment 3
Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment profit before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Company’s CODM. Segment profit before tax is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these same industries.        
Information about reportable segments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements

	
	Cosmetics distribution and beauty services
	
	Clothes
	
	Others
	
	Eliminated inter company transaction
	
	Total

	For the year ended December 31,
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021
	 
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Revenue from external customer
	751,800
	
	649,953
	
	98,323
	
	55,349
	
	10,174
	
	13,423
	
	(189)
	
	(45)
	
	860,108
	
	718,680

	Segment profit (loss) before income tax
	(8,331)
	
	(14,359)
	
	(6,216)
	
	(13,972)
	
	(3,886)
	
	22
	
	-
	
	-
	
	(18,433)
	
	(28,309)

	Total assets for reportable segments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As at December 31,
	207,268
	
	268,234
	
	59,307
	
	47,632
	
	23,615
	
	19,117
	
	-
	
	-
	
	290,190
	
	334,983


Information about reportable segments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements

	
	Cosmetics distribution
	
	Clothes
	
	Others
	
	Total

	
	and beauty services
	 
	
	
	
	

	For the year ended December 31,
	2022
	
	2021
	 
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Revenue from external customer
	751,800
	
	649,953
	
	98,323
	
	55,349
	
	-
	
	428
	
	850,123
	
	705,730

	Segment profit (loss) before income tax
	(8,331)
	
	(14,359)
	
	(6,216)
	
	(13,972)
	
	-
	
	46
	
	(14,547)
	
	(28,285)

	Total assets for reportable segments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	As at December 31,
	207,268
	
	268,234
	
	59,307
	
	47,632
	
	-
	
	207
	
	266,575
	
	316,073


Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss and assets for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Profit or loss
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Total profit(loss) for reportable segments
	(18,433)
	
	(28,309)
	
	(14,547)
	
	(28,285)

	Unallocated amounts
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Other income
	5,903
	
	60,077
	
	5,965
	
	59,845

	Other operating expenses
	(16,661)
	
	(34,172)
	
	(15,112)
	
	(29,971)

	Total profit(loss) before income tax
	(29,191)
	
	(2,404)
	
	(23,694)
	
	1,588


	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Assets for reportable segments
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	       Trade receivables
	117,148
	
	114,243
	
	116,345
	
	113,799

	       Inventories
	141,043
	
	198,453
	
	140,219
	
	197,978

	       Building and equipment
	16,223
	
	6,786
	
	9,322
	
	3,886

	       Right-of-use assets 
	5,570
	
	4,319
	
	-
	
	-

	       Other intangible assets
	10,206
	
	11,182
	
	689
	
	410

	                 Total
	290,190
	
	334,983
	
	266,575
	
	316,073


	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit: Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Non-segment assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	       Cash and cash equivalents
	125,839
	
	149,974
	
	125,460
	
	149,609

	       Other current receivables
	4,200
	
	11,301
	
	3,962
	
	10,995

	       Other current financial assets
	190,669
	
	80,002
	
	190,669
	
	80,002

	       Other current assets
	34,424
	
	31,659
	
	34,254
	
	31,615

	       Other non-current financial  assets
	212,550
	
	212,969
	
	212,550
	
	212,969

	       Investments in subsidiaries
	-
	
	-
	
	11,510
	
	14,481

	       Loans to related company  
	-
	
	3,081
	
	9,701
	
	3,081

	       Investment property
	311,804
	
	313,501
	
	311,804
	
	313,501

	       Deferred tax assets
	20,184
	
	21,277
	
	20,221
	
	21,342

	       Right-of- use assets
	14,228
	
	16,395
	
	14,228
	
	16,395

	       Other non-current assets
	4,038
	
	6,631
	
	3,742
	
	6,281

	                 Total
	917,936
	
	846,790
	
	938,101
	
	860,271

	Unallocated assets
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	       Building and equipment
	196
	
	6,453
	
	196
	
	6,453

	       Right-of- leasehold assets
	15,398
	
	18,697
	
	15,398
	
	18,697

	       Other intangible assets
	13,615
	
	15,867
	
	13,615
	
	15,867

	                  Total
	29,209
	
	41,017
	
	29,209
	
	41,017

	Total assets

	1,237,335
	
	1,222,790
	
	1,233,885
	
	1,217,361


Geographical segments
The Company is managed and operates principally in Thailand. There is no material revenues derived from, or assets located in, overseas.

Major Customer

The Company has no major external customer.
29.
Financial instruments
The Group’s financial instruments principally comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables, other current financial assets, other non-current financial assets, loans to related company, short-term loans from financial institutions, trade and other current payables, and lease liabilities. The financial risks associated with these financial instruments and how they are managed is described below.

Credit risk  

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or counterparty to settle its financial and contractual obligations to the Company as and when they fall due.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount.  At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.  The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial position.  However, due to the large number of parties comprising the Company’s customer base, Management does not anticipate material losses from its debt collection.

Market risk

Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that future movements in market interest rates will affect the results of the Company’s operations and its cash flows. The Company is primarily exposed to interest rate risk from long-term investments. The management has considered that the interest rate risk is low as the interest rates are mainly fixed.
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2022

	
	
	Floating 
	Fixed 
	Zero
	
	

	Items
	Note
	interest rate
	interest rate
	interest rate
	Total
	Interest rate

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	6
	124,571
	-
	1,268
	125,839
	0.25% – 0.40%

	Trade and other current receivables
	7
	-
	-
	121,348
	121,348
	-

	Other current financial assets
	9
	-
	-
	190,669
	190,669
	-

	Other non-current financial assets
	10
	-
	-
	212,550
	212,550
	

	Loans to related company  
	12
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Financial Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	19
	-
	-
	1,000
	1,000
	-

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	-
	-
	121,152
	121,152
	-

	Lease liabilities
	21
	-
	21,486
	-
	21,486
	6%


	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2022

	
	
	Floating 
	Fixed 
	Zero
	
	

	Items
	Note
	interest rate
	interest rate
	interest rate
	Total
	Interest rate

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	6
	124,264
	-
	1,196
	125,460
	0.25% – 0.40%

	Trade and other current receivables
	7
	-
	-
	120,308
	120,308
	-

	Other current financial assets
	9
	-
	-
	190,669
	190,669
	-

	Other non-current financial assets
	10
	-
	-
	212,550
	212,550
	-

	Loans to related company  
	12
	-
	9,701
	-
	9,701
	2.5%

	Financial Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	19
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	-
	-
	119,410
	119,410
	-

	Lease liabilities
	21
	-
	15,685
	-
	15,685
	6%


	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2021

	
	
	Floating 
	Fixed 
	Zero
	
	

	Items
	Note
	interest rate
	interest rate
	interest rate
	Total
	Interest rate

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	6
	73,572
	-
	76,402
	149,974
	0.10% - 0.40 %

	Trade and other current receivables
	7
	-
	-
	125,544
	125,544
	-

	Other current financial assets
	9
	80,002
	-
	-
	80,002
	-

	Other non-current financial assets
	10
	-
	-
	212,969
	212,969
	-

	Loans to related company  
	12
	-
	3,081
	-
	3,081
	3.50%

	Financial Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	-
	-
	98,610
	98,610
	-

	Lease liabilities
	21
	-
	21,932
	-
	21,932
	6.00%


	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2021

	
	
	Floating 
	Fixed 
	Zero
	
	

	Items
	Note
	interest rate
	interest rate
	interest rate
	Total
	Interest rate

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	6
	70,384
	-
	79,225
	149,609
	0.10% - 0.40 %

	Trade and other current receivables
	7
	-
	-
	124,794
	124,794
	-

	Other current financial assets
	9
	80,002
	-
	-
	80,002
	-

	Other non-current financial assets
	10
	-
	-
	212,969
	212,969
	-

	Loans to related company  
	12
	-
	3,081
	-
	3,081
	3.50%

	Financial Liabilities
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	-
	-
	97,966
	97,966
	-

	Lease liabilities
	21
	-
	17,478
	-
	17,478
	6.00%


Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The Group’s profit before tax does not significantly impacted by change in interest rates.

Liquidity risk 

The Company monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Company’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
Detail of due payment of financial assets of the Group which is not derivative as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 calculated from non-discounted cash flows to present value  are presented as follows.
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2022

	
	Note
	On

demand
	Less than 1 year
	1 to 5

years
	Over             5 years
	Total

	Non-derivatives
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	19
	-
	1,000
	-
	-
	1,000

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	-
	121,152
	-
	-
	121,152

	Lease liabilities
	21
	-
	4,595
	15,361
	1,530
	21,486

	Total non-derivatives
	
	-
	126,747
	15,361
	1,530
	143,638


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2022

	
	Note
	On

demand
	Less than 1 year
	1 to 5

years
	Over             5 years
	Total

	Non-derivatives
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	19
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	-
	119,410
	-
	-
	119,410

	Lease liabilities
	21
	-
	2,843
	11,312
	1,530
	15,685

	Total non-derivatives
	
	-
	122,253
	11,312
	1,530
	135,095


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2021

	
	Note
	On

demand
	Less than 1 year
	1 to 5

years
	Over             5 years
	Total

	Non-derivatives
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	-
	98,610
	 -   
	 -   
	98,610

	Lease liabilities
	21
	-
	3,166
	15,074
	3,692
	21,932

	Total non-derivatives
	
	-
	101,776
	15,074
	3,692
	120,542


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2021

	
	Note
	On

demand
	Less than 1 year
	1 to 5

years
	Over             5 years
	Total

	Non-derivatives
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other current payables
	20
	 -
	97,966
	 -   
	 -   
	97,966

	Lease liabilities
	21
	 -
	2,331
	11,455
	3,692
	17,478

	Total non-derivatives
	
	-
	100,297
	11,455
	3,692
	115,444


Fair value of financial instruments 

Given that part of financial assets and financial liabilities are short-term or bearing interest rate closely to market rate, the Company’s management believes that the fair value of those financial assets and financial liabilities does not materially differ from their carrying value.


The carrying value and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are presented below.
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2022

	
	Carrying value
	Fair value

	
	Fair value through 
profit and loss

	Fair value through 
other comprehensive income
	Amortised cost
	Total
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	125,839
	125,839
	125,839

	Trade and other current receivables
	-
	-
	121,348
	121,348
	121,348

	Other current financial assets
	190,669
	-
	-
	190,669
	190,669

	Other non-current financial assets
	-
	212,550
	-
	212,550
	212,550

	Loans to related company  
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Total financial assets
	190,669
	212,550
	247,187
	650,406
	650,406

	Financial Liabilities 
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	-
	-
	1,000
	1,000
	1,000

	Trade and other current payables
	-
	-
	121,152
	121,152
	121,152

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	21,486
	21,486
	21,486

	Total financial Liabilities
	-
	-
	143,638
	143,638
	143,638


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2022

	
	Carrying value
	Fair value

	
	Fair value through 
profit and loss

	Fair value through 
other comprehensive income
	Amortised cost
	Total
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	125,460
	125,460
	125,460

	Trade and other current receivables
	-
	-
	120,308
	120,308
	120,308

	Other current financial assets
	190,669
	-
	-
	190,669
	190,669

	Other non-current financial assets
	-
	212,550
	-
	212,550
	212,550

	Loans to related company  
	-
	-
	9,701
	9,701
	9,701

	Total financial assets
	190,669
	212,550
	255,469
	658,688
	658,688

	Financial Liabilities 
	
	
	
	
	

	Short-term loans from related persons
	-
	-
	-
	-
	-

	Trade and other current payables
	-
	-
	119,410
	119,410
	119,410

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	15,685
	15,685
	15,685

	Total financial Liabilities
	-
	-
	135,095
	135,095
	135,095


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2021

	
	Carrying value
	Fair value

	
	Fair value through 
profit and loss

	Fair value through 
other comprehensive income
	Amortised cost
	Total
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	149,974
	149,974
	149,974

	Trade and other current receivables
	-
	-
	125,544
	125,544
	125,544

	Other current financial assets
	80,002
	-
	-
	80,002
	80,002

	Other non-current financial assets
	-
	212,969
	-
	212,969
	212,969

	Loans to related company  
	-
	-
	3,081
	3,081
	3,081

	Total financial assets
	80,002
	212,969
	278,599
	571,570
	571,570

	Financial Liabilities 
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other current payables
	-
	-
	98,610
	98,610
	98,610

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	21,932
	21,932
	21,932

	Total financial Liabilities
	-
	-
	120,542
	120,542
	120,542


	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2021

	
	Carrying value
	Fair value

	
	Fair value through 
profit and loss

	Fair value through 
other comprehensive income
	Amortised cost
	Total
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Financial assets
	
	
	
	
	

	Cash and cash equivalents
	-
	-
	149,609
	149,609
	149,609

	Trade and other current receivables
	-
	-
	124,794
	124,794
	124,794

	Other current financial assets
	80,002
	-
	-
	80,002
	80,002

	Other non-current financial assets
	-
	212,969
	-
	212,969
	212,969

	Loans to related company  
	-
	-
	3,081
	3,081
	3,081

	Total financial assets
	80,002
	219,969
	277,484
	570,455
	570,455

	Financial Liabilities 
	
	
	
	
	

	Trade and other current payables
	-
	-
	97,966
	97,966
	97,966

	Lease liabilities
	-
	-
	17,478
	17,478
	17,478

	Total financial Liabilities
	-
	-
	115,444
	115,444
	115,444


The fair value of financial instruments is estimated on the following criteria.

The fair value of investment in equity instruments of non-listed companies has been determined by analysis and considering change in the invested companies’ financial position and operating performance, including other several factors, and concluded that the cost of those investments has appropriately represented the fair value of the investments.  And estimated by discounting expected future cash flow and other methods used in fair value measurement.
During the current year, there was no transfer within the fair value hierarchy.

Fair value hierarchy

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had the assets that were measured at fair value and liabilities for which fair value were disclosed using different levels of inputs as follows:
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements / Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2022

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	financial assets
	
	
	
	

	Other non-current financial assets
	
	
	
	

	     Investment in equity securities

       of listed company
	80,881
	-
	-
	80,881

	   Investment in equity securities 

      of non-listed company 
	-
	-
	131,669
	131,669

	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	Consolidated financial statements /Separate financial statements as at 31 December 2021

	
	Level 1
	Level 2
	Level 3
	Total

	financial assets
	
	
	
	

	Other non-current financial assets
	
	
	
	

	     Investment in equity securities

       of listed company
	73,282
	-
	-
	73,282

	   Investment in equity securities 

      of non-listed company 
	-
	-
	139,687
	139,687


30.   Commitments and contingent liabilities
30.1 As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had deposit at a financial institution guaranteed contingent labilities from letter of guarantee to Thailand Post Co., Ltd. Metropolitan Electricity Authority and Office of the Consumer Protection Board Baht 0.62 million.
30.2  Other commitments
The company has unused credit facilities with 3 banks as follows.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	(Unit : Thousand Baht)

	
	
	
	Consolidated financial statements
	
	Separate financial statements

	
	
	
	2022
	
	2021
	
	2022
	
	2021

	Bank overdrafts
	112,000
	
	112,000
	
	110,000
	
	110,000

	Promissory note
	65,000
	
	65,000
	
	65,000
	
	65,000

	Letter of credit for purchasing goods 
     and material
	20,000
	
	20,000
	
	20,000
	
	20,000

	Letter of guarantee from bank
	1,376
	
	1,376
	
	1,376
	
	1,376

	
	Total
	198,376
	
	198,376
	
	196,376
	
	196,376


31.
Approval of financial statements
The financial statements have been approved to be issued by the Company's Board of Directors On February 21, 2023.
Signed...................................................................................................................Director

                              (                                                                                                    )
Signed...................................................................................................................Director

(                                                                                                    )

